047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: **89,171**

Third District Court of Appeal Case no: 95-1.585 F T T F

SID J. WHITE

DEC 2 19961

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Ву ___

Chief Deputy Clerk

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY and NANCY ELIAS,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners

V.

RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant/Respondent

INITIAL BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS/PETITIONERS

Angones, Hunter, McClure, Lynch & Williams, P.A.
66 West Flagler Street
Ninth Floor, Concord Building
Miami, FL 33 130
Telephone: (305)37 1-5000

By: Christopher J. Lynch, Esq.

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from a Final Summary Judgment entered on behalf of the defendant/respondent Reliance Insurance Company (Reliance) and against. the plaintiffs/petitioners Nancy Elias and Allstate Insurance Company (Allstate). This Initial Brief is submitted on behalf of the petitioners. References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" and references to the appendix to this brief will be by symbol "App." Finally, all emphasis is supplied by counsel unless ot.her-wise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On or about February 1, 199 1, Nancy Elias was involved in an automobile accident with an individual by the name of Paul Friedman. At that time, Elias was operating a vehicle leased by her and her husband from Warren Henry Volvo. (A copy of said lease agreement is attached hereto as App. 1). Allstate had previously issued an automobile liability policy which provided coverage to Nancy Elias in the amount of \$100,000 per claim/\$300,000 per occurrence. The policy provided coverage to Elias for the above mentioned accident. (R. **1-3).**

As a result of this incident, Friedman filed suit against both Elias and Warren Henry Volvo in Dade County Circuit Court, case #94-8066. (R. 2). Following filing, Allstate made a demand upon Reliance Insurance Company, which provided liability insurance to Warren Henry Volvo, requesting that Reliance defend and agree to indemnify Elias with respect to the first \$10,000 in damages recovered against Elias. Allstate's demand in this respect was based upon the assertion that since the rental agreement (App. 1), failed to conform to §62 7.7263, **Fla. Stat.** (1990), the Reliance policy would be primary for the minimum financial responsibility limits and Reliance would owe a defense to Elias. (R. 1-3).

Reliance subsequently rejected the demand and Allstate and Elias filed the present action seeking a declaratory decree that the Reliance policy was primary and that Reliance owed Elias a defense. (R. 1-1 85). Allstate also sought recovery of attorney's fees incurred in defending Elias in the underlying tort action. (R. 3).

Reliance answered and filed a counterclaim, also seeking declaratory relief (R. 19 1•194), arguing that the lease agreement met the requirements of §627.7263 and that Allstate was obligated to provide primary coverage for Warren Henry Motors and to defend Reliance's insured Warren Henry in the tort action. After the parties filed motions seeking summary judgment in their respective favor on the priority of coverage issue, (R. 209-2 15; 2 18-406) the trial judge entered summary judgment on behalf of Reliance holding that the lease served to shift the burden of providing the primary coverage to Elias' insurer Allstate and that, in addition, Allstate owed Warren Henry a defense to the tort action. (R. 4 10-4 1.1). Following the entry of said judgment (R. 4 10-4 1 1), the petitioners appealed to the Third District Court of Appeals.

On appeal, petitioners raised the same arguments raised herein. The petitioners first contended that the lease language in question was insufficient to shift the burden for providing the primary coverage to Reliance's insured, Allstate. Petitioners also asserted that even if the court felt that the lease language was sufficient to obligate Reliance's insured to provide the primary coverage, Allstate nonetheless did not owe the rental agency a defense.

The Third District rejected both arguments (App. 2-4) finding first, on the basis of Interamerican Car Rental Inc. v. Safewav Insurance Company, 615 So.2d 244 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993); Commerce Insurance Company v. Atlas Rent-a-car. Inc., 585 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1091) rev. denied, 598 So.2d 75 (Fla. 1992) and Guemes v. Biscavne Auto

Rentals. Inc., 4 14 **So.2d** 2 16 **(Fla. 3rd DCA 1982)**, that the lease language was sufficient to shift the burden for providing the primary coverage to Allstate.

In addition, citing <u>RJT Enterprises</u>, <u>Tnc</u>, <u>v</u>, <u>Allstate Insurance Company</u>, 650 So.2d 56 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), rev. granted, 659 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1995), the Third District held that the responsibility to provide coverage to the rental agency encompassed the duty to defend. The court then certified to the Court the same question that the Fourth District certified in <u>RJT</u> as being of great public importance:

Assuming that renter's insurer owes a duty of defense and indemnification to its insured, the renter, does the renter's insurer owe the rental agency, a non insured under the policy, any duty of defense and/or indemnification? (R. 4 15-4 17).

On October 17, 1996, the petitioners filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. On October 23, 1996, this Court then issued an order postponing its decision on jurisdiction and setting a briefing schedule. This Initial Brief follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in entering summary judgment in favor of Reliance since the lease language in question did not conform to the requirement of 9627.7263 that the lessee be advised of the provisions of subsection (1) of §627.7263 in order to properly shift the burden for providing the primary coverage to the lessee's insurer. As such, the burden for providing the primary coverage fell upon Reliance, the lessor's liability carrier. Further, since the financial responsibility statutes require that an owner's liability insurance policy must insure not only the owner but any other person as operator, Elias as an insured under the Reliance policy would be owed a defense. For this reason, the summary judgment entered in favor of Reliance should

be reversed with directions to enter judgment in favor of Allstate and Elias.

However, if the court nonetheless finds that the rental agency shifted the burden for providing the primary coverage to Allstate, this court should answer the certified question in the negative and hold that Allstate did not owe the lessor a defense. It is undisputed that the lessor is not defined as an insured under the Allstate policy. In the absence of a contractual duty to defend the lessor, there is no basis upon which to impose such a duty upon Allstate. The subject statute, 627.7263, does not by its terms or intent require a lessee's insurer to provide a defense to the rental company. This Court should not add words to the statute or legislative history in order to find a duty to defend. If the legislature intended to impose upon a lessee's insurer the separate and additional duty to defend, it could have set. forth such a requirement in the statute.

ARGUMENT I

THE LEASE LANGUAGE IN QUESTION IS INSUFFICIENT TO SHIFT THE BURDEN FOR PROVIDING THE PRIMARY COVERAGE TO ELIAS' INSURER ALLSTATE.

The initial quest-ion on appeal is whether the lease language complies with the requirements of §627.7263 and thus serves to shift the burden for providing the primary coverage to Elias' insurer Allstate. ¹ This language reads as follows:

THIS RENTAL AGREEMENT REQUIRES THE VALID AND COLLECTIBLE LIABILITY AND PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION INSURANCE OF THE RENTER OR DRIVER TO BE PRIMARY FOR THEIR POLICY LIMITS AS PER ss.

LAW OFFICES OF ANGONES, HUNTER, McCLURE, LYNCH & WILLIAMS, P.A.
9TH FLOOR. CONCORD BUILDING, 66 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FL 33130 * (305) 371-5000 * EROWARD (30.5) 728-9112

¹ If this Court accepts this case for consideration, its review is not limited to the question certified. **Bell v. State**, **394 So.2d 979 (Fla. 1981)** and **Zirin v. Charles Pfizer and Company. 128 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1961)**. Accordingly, this initial argument addresses the issue of whether or not the lease agreement complies with \$627.7263, a question which must be answered in the affirmative if the court is to reach the issue posed by the certified question.

324.021(7) AND 627.7263. (App. 1).

The operative statute, in turn, states that:

62 7.72 63 Rental and leasing driver's insurance to be primary; exception-

- 1. The valid and collectible liability insurance or personal injury protection insurance providing coverage for the lessor of a motor vehicle for rent or lease shall be primary unless otherwise stated in bold type on the face of the rental or lease agreement. Such insurance shall be primary for the limits of liability and personal injury protection coverage as required by §§324.021(7) and 627.736.
- 2. Each rental or lease agreement between the lessee and the lessor shall contain a provision on the face of the agreement, stated in bold type, informing the lessee of the nrovisions of subsection (1) and shall provide a space for the name of the lessee's insurance company's name if the lessor's insurance is not to be primary.

Our position that the language of the lease agreement. is insufficient to shift the burden to Allstate is based on a very simply proposition. Subsection 2 of the statute clearly indicates that in order to shift the burden to the lessee's carrier, the lessee must be advised of the "provisions of subsection 1." The lessee, in other words, must be advised that under normal circumstances, the lessor of the vehicle is obligated to provide the primary coverage for the benefit of the lessee.

In Government Employees Insurance Comaanv v. Ford Motor Credit Company, 616 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) rev. dismissed 624 So.2d 265 (Fla. 1993), the Fourth District addressed whether or not the following language, which is analogous to the language contained in the Warren Henry lease, was sufficient to shift the burden for providing primary coverage to the lessee:

NOTICE: PURSUANT TO §627.7263, FLORIDA STATUTES, LESSOR AND LESSEE AGREE THAT THE LIABILITY INSURANCE OR PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION INSURANCE OF LESSEE OR OTHER PERMITTED OPERATORS OF THE PROPERTY SHALL BE PRIMARY FOR THE LIMITS OF LIABILITY AND PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION COVERAGE REQUIRED BY §§324.02 1(7) AND 627.736, FLORIDA STATUTES...

The Fourth District, citing to the Third District's opinion in **Guemes v. Biscavne Auto Rentals, Inc., 414 So.2d 216 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982)**, reversed the trial court's ruling that the language was sufficient to shift the burden to the lessee. The Fourth District stated that:

In our opinion this provision does not comply with the statute. There is nothing in this notice "informing the lessee of the provisions subsection (1)" of the statute. Nor does the notice inform the lessee that she was contracting to pay for what the statute requires the lessor to provide. As the court stated in Guemes v. Biscavne Auto Rentals. Inc. 1 4 14 So.2d 2 16, 2 18 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982):

A lessee reading the notice provided by Biscayne would believe that, by statute, his own insurer is responsible. The lessee is not informed that, to the contrary, he is contracting for a responsibility not otherwise required by law.

Lessor's insurer relies on <u>International Bankers Insurance</u> <u>Company v. Snappy Car Rental. Inc.</u>, 553 So.2d 740 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). The notice in the lease in that case contained language similar to the notice in the present case, except there was no reference to 9627.7263. Since the statute requires that the lessee must be informed of the provisions of 9627.7263, we cannot agree with the conclusion of the fifth district that, the notice is sufficient so long as the lessee is "informed by bold type notice that the lessee's insurance is to be primary." <u>Id.</u> 74 1.

616 So.2d 1186-87.

The Fourth District's reasoning is consistent with the overwhelming weight of authority. For example, in <u>Grant v. New Hampshire Insurance Co.</u>, 613 So.2d 466 (Fla. 1993),

McCue v. Diversified Services, Inc., 622 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), Commerce Insurance Company v. Atlas Rent-A-Car, Inc., 585 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991) and State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Lindo's Rent-A-Car. Inc., 588 So.2d 36 (5th DCA 1991), the courts held that the lease language in question was sufficient to shift the burden to the lessee's carrier since the lessee was advised of the provisions of subsection (1) of \$627.7263 and hence, that he or she was contracting for an obligation not otherwise required under the law.

In deciding these cases, the courts have aligned themselves with the Department of Insurance which has promulgated **Section 177.022 of Chapter 4 of the Florida Administrative Code.** (App. 5-6). This provision also recognizes that in order to shift the burden to the lessee, the lessee must be advised that he or she is contracting to pay for what the statute requires the lessor to provide. The regulation reads as follows:

4-177.022 Primary Insurance Statement Required. The face of each rental agreement utilized by any person offering motor vehicles for rent or lease shall contain a statement informing the lessee of the provisions of Section (1) §627.7263(1), Florida Statutes as applicable in the following conditions:

(1) If under the terms of the Rental or Lease Agreement the lessee's motor vehicle insurance coverage is primary, this statement shall be provided in substantially the following form:

BY ACCEPTING THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT, YOU ARE AGREEING TO MAKE THE INSURANCE COVERAGE PROVIDED BY YOUR INSURER IDENTIFIED BELOW PRIMARY. Your insurance being: PRIMARY means that in the event of a covered loss, your insurer would be responsible for payment. of all personal injury or property damage claims arising from the

operation of this vehicle up to the limits of your coverage. FLORIDA LAW REQUIRES (LESSORS)'S INSURANCE COVERAGE TO BE PRIMARY UNLESS YOU AGREE TO MAKE YOUR INSURANCE PRIMARY. IF (LESSORS)'S INSURANCE WERE PRIMARY, IT WOULD BE LIABLE FOR THE PAYMENT OF \$10,000 FOR PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION (PIP) AND LIABILITY COVERAGE OF \$10,000 PER INDIVIDUAL AND \$20,000 PER ACCIDENT.

It is an elementary principle of statutory construction that a legislative enactment should be construed to give each word effect and that a court in construing a statute, cannot invoke a limitation or add words to the statute not placed there by the legislature. E.g. Gretz v. Florida Unemployment Appeals Commission, 5 72 So.2d 1384 (Fla. 199 1); Revf v. Revf, 620 So.2d 2 18 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993); Terrinoni v. Westward Hol. 418 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) and Chaffee v. Miami Transfer Company, 288 So.2d 209 (Fla. 1974). As Government Employees Insurance Co. v. Ford Motor Credit Company expressly recognizes, the explicit terms of the statute require that the lessee must be informed of the provisions of 5627.7263 and any lease language which does not state "that the statute provides that the lessor's insurance is primary, but that the parties are contracting (as the statute permits) for lessee's insurance to be primary" does "not comply with either the spirit or the letter of the statute." Id. 616 So.2d at 1187. The interpretation of the statute recognized in the line of decisions culminating in Government Employees Insurance Company v.

Ford Motor Company² is the only appropriate construction which can be placed upon this

² In its decision, the Fourth District disagreed with the Third District's interpretation of the statute in <u>Interamerican Car Rental Inc. v. Safeway Insurance Comeany.</u> 615 So.2d 244 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993). <u>Interamericaq is</u> the primary case cited by the Third District in deciding this case. Accordingly, we submit that <u>Government Employees Insurance Company v. Ford Motor</u>

statute and, inasmuch as the language on the face of the Warren Henry lease falls far short. of that which the courts and the Department of Insurance have held to be required by the clear and unambiguous language of the statute in order to obligate the lessee's carrier, we believe the trial court erred in entering judgment against Allstate and Elias.

ARGUMENT II

ALLSTATE DID NOT OWE THE RENTAL AGENCY A DEFENSE EVEN IF THE COURT FINDS THAT THE RENTAL AGENCY SHIFTED THE BURDEN FOR PROVIDING THE PRIMARY COVERAGE TO ALLSTATE.

In persuading the trial court that Allstate owed a duty to defend Warren Henry with respect to the underlying tort action, Reliance cited **RTT Enterarises v. Allstate Insurance**Company, 650 So.2d (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) which is currently pending before this Court.

In RIT Enterprises Inc., the Fourth District held that where the rental agency properly shifts t-he burden for providing the primary coverage to the lessee's insurer, that insurer not. only owes the first \$10,000 per person/\$20,000 per occurrence in coverage, but the insurer is also obligated to defend the lessor notwithstanding that the insurer is not listed as an insured under the express terms of the policy. We submit that the Fourth District incorrectly decided RIT Enterprises.Inc. and that the dissent filed by Judge Stevenson was the correct legal ruling.

As Judge Stevenson recognized, an insurance company's duty to defend is strictly a contractual matter between the company and the party with whom it has cont.ratted. In consideration for premiums paid, the insurance company contractually obligates itself to defend its insured. Where as here, the lessor of the vehicle is not defined as an insured under the

Company, expressly and directly conflicts with the Third District's decision in this case and in **Interamerican.** This represents an alternative basis for the exercise of this Court's jurisdiction.

Law OFFICES OF ANGONES, HUNTER, McCLURE, LYNCH & WILLIAMS, P.A.
9TH FLOOR, CONCORD BUILDING, 66 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FL 33130 * (305) 371-5000 * BROWARD (305) 728-9112

Allstate policy, there is no basis upon which to impose upon Allstate a duty to defend **RIT**.

Similarly, 9627.7263 cannot be construed so as to impose upon Allstate a duty to defend. The statute does not by its terms or intent, require a lessee's insurer to provide a defense to the rental company. The statute merely permits a rental company to shift to a lessee's insurer the primary obligation to pay on behalf of the lessee the limits required by **Florida Statute §324.021(7)** and 5627.736. Since 3627.7263 does not in any way, shape or form require a lessee's insurer to provide a defense to a lessor, this Court should not add words to the statute or legislative history in order to find a duty to defend. Had the legislature intended to impose upon lessee's insurer the separate and additional duty to defend, it could have set forth such a requirement in the statute. It did not.

Finally, if the court is inclined to agree with Allstate that the lease agreement in question did not properly serve to shift. the obligation for providing the primary coverage to Allstate, we believe that not only would Reliance be obligated to provide the primary limits of coverage to the extent of the minimum financial responsibility limits, but that Reliance would also be obligated to defend Allstate's insured. This contention does not conflict with our assertion that if Allstate is obligated to afford the primary limits, Allstate is nonetheless not obligated to defend Warren Henry. The reason is that while the Florida Statutes require that an owner's policy which conforms to the Florida minimum financial responsibility limits must by necessity cover as an insured not only the owner of the vehicle but any operator, the statutes do not similarly provide that an operator's policy (such as that covering Nancy Elias) provide coverage to the owner. Specifically, §324.151(1)(a) and (b) state as follows:

324.15 1 Motor Vehicle Liability Policy; Required Provisions.-

- 1. A motor vehicle liability policy to be proof of financial responsibility under s. 324.03 1 (1), shall be issued to owners or operators under the following provisions:
 - (a) An <u>owner's</u> liability insurance policy shall designate by explicit description or by appropriate reference all motor vehicles with respect to which coverage is thereby granted and shall insurer the owner named therein and <u>any other person as operator using such motor</u> vehicle or motor vehicles.
 - (b) An operator's motor vehicle liability policy of insurance shall insure the person named therein against loss from the liability imposed upon him or her by law for damages arising out of the use by the person of any motor vehicle not owned by him or her...

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the lower court's rulings in favor of Reliance should be reversed with directions to enter judgment in favor of Allstate and Elias holding that Reliance owed the duty to provide the primary coverage in limits equal to those imposed by the financial responsibility statute, i.e. \$10,000 per person/\$20,000 per occurrence, and that Reliance owed a duty to defend Elias with respect to the underlying tort action.