#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 89,171

Third District Court of Appeal Case No: 95-1585

# ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY and NANCY ELIAS,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

VS.

**RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY,** 

Defendant/Respondent.

#### **ANSWER BRIEF**

Marlow, Connell, Valerius, Abrams & Adler, P.A. Attorneys for Defendant/Respondent Suite 200 Grove Professional Bldg. 2950 Southwest 27th Avenue Miami, Florida 33133-3776 Telephone: (305) 446-0500 Andrew S. Connell Florida Bar 198277 By: William G. Edwards, Esq. Florida Bar 303356 By: William G. Liston, Esq. Florida Bar 332542

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

In early 1991, Nancy Elias leased a vehicle from Warren Henry Volvo, and signed an agreement which purported to shift the duty of primary coverage for financial responsibility limits to Elias' insurer, Allstate. A month later, Elias had an accident, and thereafter was sued by the other driver, Friedman.

In a declaratory action brought by petitioner Allstate against Reliance (the rental company's liability insurer), and on cross motions for summary judgment on the two issues of which policy provided primary coverage and owed a duty of defense, the trial court entered judgment for appellee Reliance, determining that the rental agreement's "shifting" language satisfied the requirements of section 627.7263, Florida Statutes (1991). The trial court thus ruled that Allstate's policy was primary for the financial responsibility limits, and that Allstate was obligated to provide a defense not only to its named insured but also to the rental company.

Allstate appealed the judgment to the third district court, which affirmed in the opinion now submitted to review by this court.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The third district properly affirmed the declaratory judgment entered on Reliance's motion: the language of the lease agreement satisfied the statute's "shifting" requirements then in effect. Moreover, a 1995 amendment to the shifting statute,' as well as the legislative history of those amendments, confirm that the third and fifth district courts --upon whose analyses Reliance relies in this court-- properly have discerned the intended meaning of the prior statute under review in this appeal. Based on those courts' rulings, and as affirmed by the third district decision under review, the **renter/tortfeasor's \$100,000/\$300,000** liability policy with Allstate became primary for the financial responsibility limits: the rental company became Allstate's insured, by operation of the shifting statute. Allstate therefore owes the rental company the same indemnity and defense it owes to any insured under its policy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> which has mooted the "sufficiency of shifting language" issue for leases entered into since that time

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT AND THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE RENTAL CONTRACT SATISFIED THE 1991 SHIFTING STATUTE; THEREFORE, THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR PRIMARY COVERAGE WAS SHIFTED TO THE RENTER'S INSURANCE.

Whether a particular rental contracts language conformed to the requirements of the prior shifting statute is a matter this court previously has left to the district courts. Applying the analysis applied in the third and fifth districts, the language now in issue satisfies the 1991 statute.\* Under fourth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> From 1977 to 1995, section 627.7263 provided:

<sup>(1)</sup> The valid and collectible insurance or personal injury protection insurance providing coverage for the lessor of a motor vehicle for rent or lease shall be primary unless otherwise stated in bold type on the face of the rental or /ease agreement. Such insurance shall be primary for the limits of liability, and personal injury protection coverage as required by sec. 324,029(7) and sec. 627.736.

<sup>(2)</sup> Each rental or /ease agreement between the lessee and the lessor shall contain a provision on fhe face of the agreement, stated in bold type, informing the lessee of the provisions of subsection (1) and shall provide a space for the name of lessee's insurance company if the lessor's insurance is not to be primary.

district analysis, however, the contract language probably is insufficient to shift the duty of primary coverage from the rental company's insurer to that of the renter?

The third district decisions to which the opinion under review cites, Interamerican Car Rental, Inc. v. Safeway Insurance Co., 615 So.2d 244 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993); Commerce Insurance Co. v. Atlas Rent A Car, Inc., 585 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), review denied, 598 So.2d 75 (Fla. 1992); and Guemes V. Biscayne Auto Rentals, Inc., 414 So.2d 216 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), common-sensically focus upon the question of whether the rental

At issue is the meaning of the prior statutory language. See, *Guemes* v. *Biscayne Auto Rentals,* Inc., 414 So.2d 216, 217 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)(shifting statute in effect at time of lease determines parties' responsibilities).

<sup>3</sup> That interdistrict conflict is not the basis upon which review was granted by this court; however, Allstate is correct in stating (initial brief, at 4 n.1) that it is within the court's discretion to consider the issue.

Section 627.7263, Florida Statutes (1995), now provides:

If the lessee's coverage is to be primary, **the** rental or lease agreement must contain **the** following language, in at least IO-point type: "The valid and collectible liability insurance and personal injury protection insurance of any authorized rental or leasing driver is primary for **the** limits of liability and personal injury protection coverage required by ss. 324.021 and 627.736, Florida Statutes."

contract fairly informs the renter that his or her insurance is to be primary for the financial responsibility limits. In contrast, the fourth district's contrary decision in Government Employees *Insurance* Co. v. Ford Motor Credit Co., 616 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 4th DCA), review dismissed, 624 So.2d 265 (Fla. 1993)(hereinafter, "*GEICO*"), upon which petitioner Allstate relies, turns on analysis which Reliance contends is mistaken. The fifth district has rejected the analysis employed in *GEICO* as over-literal, and causing obscurity of meaning, rather than clarity. See, *International Bankers Insurance Co. v. Snappy Car Rental, Inc.,* 553 So.2d 740 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989).

#### The third district cases

In Guemes, 414 **So.2d** 216, the third district court ruled that a rental contract failed to shift responsibility for primary coverage to the renter, because the language falsely stated that the renter's coverage was primary by operation of **law**.<sup>4</sup> In reversing, the court set forth the common-sense

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The 1976 act was to that effect, and it appears that the rental contract was drawn in conformity with the 1976 statute. However, the action was governed by a 1977 statutory amendment which reversed the effect of the statute's operation, requiring that the rental *agency's* insurance be primary, in the absence of appropriate

criterion by which the third district has since evaluated the sufficiency of shifting language in car rental contracts:

In order to satisfy the requirements of Section 627.7263, *supra*, we find that the lessee must be clearly informed that his insurance carrier will be responsible for any claim against the lessee during the use and operation of the vehicle.

Guemes, supra, 414 So.2d, at 218 (f.o.).

Thus, under third district analysis, Florida law allows rental companies to shift primary coverage responsibility "by conspicuously designating the lessee's liability in **bold**<sup>5</sup> type on the face of the rental agreement." *Atlas Rent A Car, supra, 585* So.2d, at 1085-86 (f.s.).

The "Notice to Renter" reviewed in *At/as Rent A Car* was substantially lengthier than that under review in this appeal, and petitioner Allstate would like this court to require similar contractual wordiness from Reliance's insured, Warren Henry. However, there is no indication in the third district's opinion that Atlas' expansive description of the statute's language was at all

language in the contract shifting the duty to the renter's insurance. Thus, the language of the rental agreement conversely mischaracterized the state of the law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>after July 1, 1995: IO-point

required to effectively shift coverage responsibility, and there is no reason in logic for this court to require it of Warren Henry. Rather than require pointless recitation of the statute's somewhat arcane wording (which, ironically, relates to assignment of coverage duty in the absence of shifting language), *Atlas Rent A Car* focusses upon the *informational content of the notice,* as it relates to the only relevant question: Which party's carrier is to shoulder primary financial responsibility?:

The lessee was clearly informed that his insurance carrier would be responsible for any claim against the lessee during use and operation of the vehicle. See *Guemes v. Biscayne Auto Rentals, Inc.,* **414 So.2d** 216 (FIa. 3d DCA **1982)(in** order to satisfy requirements of section 627.7263, lessee must be informed that his insurance carrier will be responsible).

Atlas Rent A Car, supra, 585 So.2d, at 1085, n.3. Reliance contends that the third district's analysis makes the best sense: the essential criterion by which to measure the sufficiency of "shifting" language is the clarity of the contract's assignment of primary coverage responsibility.

The most recent of the three cases which form third district precedent begun by *Guemes* in 1982 is *Interamerican Car Rental, Inc. v. Safeway* 

*Insurance* co., 615 So.2d 244 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), which reached a result identical to that reached in *At/as Rent A Car*, on the same analysis. In *Safeway*, the third district court ruled that a rental contract effectively shifted primary coverage responsibility to the renter's insurance carrier, despite *the absence of the very language upon which petitioner Allstate now insists:* the rental contract reviewed in *Safeway* does not quote the statute, and only indirectly suggests the statutory *possibility* that the rental company's insurance can be primary under any circumstance (by reference to "the exception to Florida Statute 627.7263"). Again, citing Guemes, the third district found that any language which fairly announced the intended result, i.e., that the renter's insurance was primary for the financial responsibility limits, complied with the statute.

\* \* \*

In contrast to the opinions of the third district, in *GEICO*, the fourth district ruled that shifting language did not satisfy the statutory requirements, despite the fact that the rental contract specifically referred to the shifting statute and clearly stated that the renter's insurance would be primary. Its

decision was based on the rental contract's failure to inform the renter that the rental company's coverage was primary *in the absence of agreement to the contrary,* which the fourth district considered statutorily mandated. *GEICO*, 616 So.2d 1186.

Reliance contends that GE/CO's analysis is not required by the statute under review, and it is further supported in its contention by the analysis of the fifth district *court* in *Snappy Car Rental*, supra, 553 **So.2d** 740.

In that case, the fifth district court expressly considered and rejected what Reliance contends is an over-literal interpretation --which later was adopted by the fourth district in GE/CO:

> The lease agreement cannot literally and truthfully inform the lessee of the primary effect of subsection (1), i.e., that the lessor's insurance is primary, when that will not be the fact because the very reason for the lease provision is to comply with the statute in order to make the lessee's insurance primary.

> If language in the lease agreement attempts to explain to the lessee that the statute makes the lessor's insurance primary but the very act of informing the lessee makes the fact stated to be untrue and makes the lessee's insurance primary, obviously, the lessee will be hopelessly confused. It is better just to simply state the ultimate truth of the

insurance provision in the lease agreement --which is, that the lessee's insurance is to be primary.

Snappy Car Rental, supra, 553 So.2d, at 741.

The fourth district's opinion in GE/CO is petitioner Allstate's sole supporting case: there is no "overwhelming weight of authority" on this question (as referred to in the initial brief, at 6) with which *GEICO* could be consistent. The two cases cited by Allstate in support of that assertion, *Grant v. New Hampshire Insurance Co.*, 613 So.2d 466 (Fla. 1993) and *State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. Lindo's Rent-A-Car, Inc.*, 588 So.2d 36 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), despite recitation of expansive rental contract language of which even the fourth district would approve, contain no analysis relevant to the issue now before this court and do not state that the shifting language was effectuated by the contract's setting forth some or all of the language of subsection (1) of the statute. (In fact, counsel undersigned is not aware that the shifting term was determined to be effective in *Grant.*)

, Allstate also refers (initial brief, at 7) to an administrative rule promulgated in 1989, as supportive of Allstate's suggested interpretation of the shifting statute. While it is true that the rule specifies very lengthy

contract language, the promulgation of the rule fully twelve years after the Florida Legislature enacted and last amended the shifting statute in 1977 (until the 1995 amendment, which resulted in the repeal of the rule; *Florida* Administrative Week/y, Vol. 21, No. 41, at 7016-17 [October 13, 1995]) is not evidence of legislative intent. See, PW Ventures, Inc. v. Nichols, 533 So.2d 281 (Fla. 1988); Gay v. Canada Dry Bottling Co., 59 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1952): great "[a]Ithough not controlling" [Gay, 59 So.2d, at 790] weight should be given to *contemporaneous* administrative construction of a statute. Neither Rule 4-177.022 nor its identical predecessor, Rule 4-85.002, appears to have been relied on, quoted, cited or even *acknowledged* by any Florida case interpreting the shifting statute. That fact may well be a testament to the lawyering of Allstate's counsel in having located it --or it may (also) reflect a negative assessment of the rule's significance by the courts which have considered the shifting statute in the seven years since the code provision was implemented. In any event, the 1989 promulgation of the rule does not have evidentiary significance regarding the intent of the legislature in 1977.

As earlier stated, the shifting statute was amended in 1995. The

expressed purpose of the amendment (see transcript of introduction of Senate Bill 1758, attached as "A") was to obviate the "cumbersome and confusing" ("A," at 2) agency rule to which Allstate has referred, to which Senator Harris charged responsibility for generating fifteen lawsuits. Id. The language of Senator Harris (*Id.*, at 2-3) clearly indicates an intention to get rid of the agency rule, and amend the statute to make its meaning *clearer*; there is no indication in her remarks (or elsewhere in the public record) of an intention to effect a departure from prior legislative intent. In seeking the purpose behind the legislature's 1995 amendment (and in assessing the potential relevance of that purpose to the issue now pending), it is important to note that the amendment did *not* radically alter the operation of the statute --as did the previous amendment, in 1977, which completely reversed the assignment of primary responsibility for provision of coverage in the absence Rather, the amendment's only effect (other than a of shifting language. typeface requirement, supra, note 5), is to specify exact language which must be quoted direct/y from the statute, in order to shift primary coverage responsibility. In light of the litigation --and conflicting appellate decisions--

generated by the unfortunate prior statutory language (and, according to Senator Harris, the agency rule), the amendment may fairly be interpreted as what the 1995 legislature considered a clarification of the prior act. Gay *v. Canada Dry Bottling Co.*, 59 **So.2d** 788, 790 (Fla. **1952**)(**g.o.**):

[T]he interpretation of a statute by the legislative department goes far to remove doubt as to the meaning of the law. The court has the right and the duty, in arriving at the correct meaning of a prior statute, to consider subsequent legislation.

Accord, Lowry v. Parole and Probation Commission, 473 So.2d 1248, 1250 (Fla. 1985)(general rule employed in context of statutory amendment "enacted soon after controversies as to the interpretation of the original act [arose]...."<sup>6</sup>). While it cannot be argued that the 1995 legislation was conclusively a *clarification* of the 1977 legislature's intent, *State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. LaForet*, 658 So.2d 55, 62 (Fla. 1995), there certainly existed a legislative opportunity to express the belief that the 1995 amendment effected a change in the prior statute's meaning. No such

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Senator Harris indicated in her 1995 remarks ("A," at 2) that the proffered bill had been passed by the state senate the prior two years; *GEICO* is an 1993 decision.

impression was expressed, and the relatively minor amendment of the statute's operation as interpreted by most of the then-extant decisions suggests an intention to clarify what was perceived to be the original purpose of the 1977 statute.

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